BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD L. KAPLAN Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Ruth Bryan Owen Rohde Building Florida Regional Service Center 401 N. W. 2nd Avenue (Suite 820) Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

The appellant, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court. The appellee was the defendant. The parties will be referred to as they stood before the trial court. References to the record on appeal will be denoted by the symbol "R". References to the transcript of the proceedings will be denoted by the symbol "T".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged with trafficking in cocaine and conspiracy to traffic in cocaine. (R. 7-8A). A motion to suppress was presented and evidence adduced on October 31, 1985 through November 4, 1985. (T. 1-800). The court granted in part the defendant's motion to suppress. (T. 788-797). The State filed a timely notice of appeal. (R. 71). This appeal follows.

The Third District Court of Appeal held the Defendant was an invitee who and had a reasonable expectation of privacy to challenge the search.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Officers Mark Silvia and Norberto Gonzalez were working with the Crime Suppression Unit of the Metro-Dade Police Department on June 7, 1985. (T. 20, 207). They were in plain clothes and an unmarked police vehicle. (T. 21, 213). They were specifically watching for home invasion robberies. In the area they were patrolling there had been numerous instances of robbers kicking in doors or pretending to be policemen and thereby gaining entry to houses. (T. 23-24, 208-209). At 9:10 p.m. as they were patrolling, Officer Silvia saw two white males on the front porch of a house. They were in front of double door which, Officer Silvia stated, are weak and thereby easier to kick open. (T. 25-26). One of the two men was leaning over and looking into the living room window. (T. 27, 210). It aroused the suspicion of the officers. They turned around to investigate. (T. 31, 212). The two men were gone when the officers went back to the house. (T. 31, 212). The officers parked, watched the house and called for a marked police unit. (T. Uniformed Officers Morales, Cravens and Gross 31, 213). arrived. (T. 32, 37, 214). Officer Silvia went to the rear of the house. He looked into a rear window and saw a child watching television and the defendant sitting down. He then saw the co-defendant, Navarrte, walk into the room. (т. 34-36). Morales and Gonzalez knocked on the front door of the (T. 218). Mrs. Betancur answered. (T. 221). house. When

asked, Mrs. Betancur said no one had come to her door and that only she and her children were home. (T. 222, 227, 463, 43). She was asked about a car that was in her driveway. She did not know about the car being there or who owned it. (T. 39, 224-225, 464). Officer Silvia said there was a man inside the house. (T. 43, 92-93, 227). As Mrs. Betancur had said there was no one but her children in the house, the police suspected a burglary in progress. (T. 381). Officer Gonzalez asked Mrs. Betancur if they could check the house for her safety. She agreed. (T. 228-229, 465). The defendant was sitting in the family room. (T. 230). Mrs. Betancur apparently knew the defendant but asked how and when he had come in. (T. 468, 624). While searching the house for robbery suspects, Officer Cravens walked into a bedroom containing open ledger books, an open box with a large amount of money in it and suitcases. (T. 388-389). The suitcase were slashed open as against opened by normal means. Coffee grounds were inside. (T. 115, 242). At that point, the suspected narcotics were involved. The officers police stayed at the scene approximately one hour waiting for Officer Fernandez to arrive with a consent to search form. (T. 346, 524). Mrs. Betancur signed the form consenting to the search of the house. (т. 535-537). A search of the house revealed three Mac 11 semi-automatic guns (T. 543), 208 kilos of cocaine and large amounts of cash. (T. 404).

The trial court found the consent to search was not intelligently and voluntarily given by Mrs. Betancur. (Т. 788-797). It suppressed the cocaine and the money. The State argued that the defendant lacked standing to contest the evidence. The defendant produced a warranty deed to him dated August 31, 1984 and recorded in September, 1984 in official record book 1226 on page 183. (T. 202-203). Mr. and Mrs. Betancur had a six-month oral lease with the defendant running from January, 1985 through July, 1985. Mr. Betancur testified that he and his family were renting and living in the house. Rent was paid on a monthly basis. (Т. 203-206). Mrs. Betancur testified that the defendant owned the house and that she rented it. She had lived there with her husband and children since January. (T. 619). The defendant retained a key to the house. (T. 632). He went to the house from occasion to occasion to collect the rent or when the house was damaged. (T. 620, 673). The court held the defendant had standing. (T. 698).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State submits two issues for this Court's determination pursuant to its authority to plenary review cases involving conflict jurisdiction.

Ι

The Defendant was the landlord of the property searched. He retained the right to enter the premises solely to collect rent and make repairs. Although the Third District Court of Appeal found the Defendant was an invitee the State submits decision holding the Defendant had that standing was At the time of the search the Defendant entered erroneous. the house and sat down to watch television without the lessees consent. He did not enter the areas where the cocaine and firearms were found. He could not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the areas he did not enter.

II

By leasing the house the Defendant gave up his possessory interest. He owned the house but no longer had free access to it nor the authority to limit who entered or left the house. He therefore could not have a reasonable

expectation of privacy in the house. The tenants, the Betancurs, had an expectation of privacy in the house. They had free access to the house and had authority to keep others out. The Defendant did not retain any of these rights. Therefore, the Defendant did not have an expectation of privacy in the house. He lacked standing to contest the evidence discovered therein.

POINTS ON APPEAL

Pursuant to this Court's decision in <u>Bould</u>, <u>infra</u> the State submits the following issues for review:

Ι

WHETHER AN "INVITEE" WHO ENTERS A RESIDENCE WITHOUT THE OCCUPIER'S KNOWLEDGE HAS NO REASONABLE EXPEC-TATION OF PRIVACY IN AREAS HE DOES NOT ACCESS.

II

WHETHER A LANDLORD HAS STANDING TO OBJECT TO A FOURTH AMENDMENT SEARCH WHEN HE RETAINS THE RIGHT TO ENTER ONLY TO COLLECT RENT AND AFFECT REPAIRS.

ARGUMENT

Ι

AN "INVITEE" WHO ENTERS A RESIDENCE WITHOUT THE OCCUPIER'S KNOWLEDGE HAS NO REASONABLE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY IN AREAS HE DOES NOT ACCESS.

The Defendant did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the attic and northwest bedroom as he was found in the living room. This Court should reverse and remand.

The State contends an invitee lacks standing to object to the validity of a residential search. Of course the initial inquiry involves whether or not the Defendant had a reasonable expectation of privacy.

In <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 411 So.2d 1034 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) the Court set forth the following test:

> Initially, we would observe that the questions of standing and the legality of the search have merged. The proper inquiry is whether it may be said that the Fourth Amendment rights of the individual challenging the search have been violated. To answer this question a court must look to the "totality of the circumstances" in order to determine (1) if the defendant had a subjective expectation of privacy in the area searched, and (2) if that expectation is one prepared which society is to recognize as reasonable.

[Footnotes omitted]. Id. at 1036. This analysis must focus on the facts of this case.

It is clear the Defendant was found watching television in the living room. (T. 34-36). Equally, as clear is the fact the guns were found in the northwest bedroom (T. 543) and the 208 kilo grams of cocaine in the attic. (T. 404). The record does not suggest the Defendant accessed the areas where the contraband was found at the time of the seizure.

These facts in light of <u>Daniels</u>, <u>supra</u>, analysis establish the Defendant had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the area searched. The defendant in <u>Daniels</u> testified he had only been in the residence (a trailer) a few hours and had not gone into the back bedroom. <u>Id.</u> at 1037. In the Defendant's case there was no testimony that he, during the time prior to the raid, accessed either the attic or northwest bedroom. Therefore, he had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the areas searched. He had no standing to object to the search.

Additionally, the State also relies on <u>State v. Mallory</u>, 409 So.2d 1222 (Fla . 2d DCA 1982) in which the Court held a guest had no standing to object to a search. In <u>Mallory</u>, <u>supra</u>, that defendant kept personal effects in the house and access to a hidden key by which he could enter and leave at will. <u>Id.</u> at 1233. Furthermore, Mr. Mallory, like the Defendant, had a permanent home elsewhere, he was merely a visitor.

This Defendant was a landlord who maintained a key for the purpose of collecting rent and repairs. However, on the day of the search he entered the premises for a purpose other than rent or repairs, he was found watching television in the living room. (T. 34-36). This is the exact situation faced in <u>Mallory</u>, <u>i.e.</u> even though the Defendant had access he had no sufficient expectation of privacy. He could not have standing.

Furthermore, in <u>State v. Loomis</u>, 418 So.2d 482 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) an invitee, who was present in the curtilage (yard) at the time a warrantless search of the yard and garage of the residence yielded both growing and other marijuana, was held to lack standing to challenge the seizure.

The Federal Circuit Court for Eleventh Circuit has likewise held a guest has no standing to challenge. In <u>United</u> <u>States v. Rackley</u>, 742 F.2d 1266 (11th Cir. 1984) two defendants were present at the off loading of cocaine from a boat docked behind a Fort Lauderdale residence. <u>Id.</u> at 1268-9. Federal agents searched the residence and a vehicle and found 260 pounds of cocaine. <u>Id.</u> at 1269. In that case the Eleventh Circuit held:

> The evidence shows that neither Crosby nor Rackley had a legitimate expectation of privacy to afford them standing to contest the search of the house. In United States v. Meyer,

656 F.2d 979 (5th Cir. 1981), the Fifth Circuit stated that:

[w]hile an ownership or possessory interest is not necessarily required, the mere legitimate presence on the searched premises by invitation or otherwise, is insufficient in itself to create a protectible expectation. A defendant must also establish a legitimate expectation of privacy in the particular area searched in order for a fourth amendment challenge to be allowed.

Meyer, 656 F.2d at 981. (emphasis added)(citations omitted). The evidence elicited at the suppression hearing clearly establishes that Rackley and Crosby were mere guests on the premises leased by Sanders. While one's status as a guest does not necessarily exclude one from an expectation of privacy in the searched premises, the ability to object to a search is ordinarily limited to only those persons whose privacy is invaded by the search. United States v. Colbert, 474 F.2d 174, 176 (5th Cir. 1973). Neither Rackley's nor Crosby's privacy was invaded by the search conducted at the house. Neither man had any valid expectation of privacy in either the garage, the plastic garbage bags obtained from the garage, the house itself, or the Lincoln Continental automobile parked in front of the house.

At the suppression hearing, Sanders asserted that Rackley had a key to the house and that he stayed there several times during the month of June. Sanders admitted, however, that Rackley did not stay in the immediately preceding house the search and seizure, and never kept a full wardrobe in the house when he This testimony suggests was there. that Rackley's expectation of privacy, if it existed at all, was limited to the guest bedroom where he stayed, whenever he stayed there. Since no evidence was seized from the guest bedroom, Rackley's expectation of privacy in that guest bedroom is of no legal consequence. Appellant Crosby, who never stayed overnight, does not possess even a possibility of a valid privacy expectation in the house. [Emphasis added]

Id. at 1270

The State submits the Defendant as a guest had no legitimate reasonable expectation of privacy in the entire house. He maintained his key for the purpose of rent collection and property maintenance. A factual circumstance which gave him far less access than the defendant's in <u>Rackley</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The cases cited above demonstrate a defendant must have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the area searched. The <u>Defendant</u> was <u>watching television</u> in the living room. The suppressed evidence 208 kilos of cocaine and 3 MAC-11 firearms were found in the attic (T. 404) and the northwest bedroom (T. 543) respectively. There is no evidence which establishes that at the time the Defendant entered the residence and sat in the living room he had any expectation of privacy, yet alone a reasonable one. It is precisely this point which the trial court and the Third District Court of Appeal overlook. The Defendant had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the areas searched the northwest bedroom and atticl

Finally, the "privacy interest" of the Defendant as an "invitee" is not the kind society should recognize as reasonable. Society should not recognize a "invitee's" speculative privacy interest in areas of another's residence in which the Defendant did not access.

Therefore, this Court should reverse and remand with instructions to vacate the suppression order and set for trial. A LANDLORD HAS NO STANDING TO OBJECT TO A FOURTH AMENDMENT SEARCH WHEN HE RETAINS THE RIGHT TO ENTER ONLY TO COLLECT RENT AND AFFECT REPAIRS.

II

Originally, in the Third District Court of Appeal this cause was brought forth questioning the right of the Defendant as a landlord to assert standing in the premises when they are leased to another. Pursuant to <u>Bould v. Touchette</u>, 349 So.2d 1181, 1183 (Fla. 1977), <u>on remand</u>, <u>Hartford</u> <u>Accident and Indemnity Co v. United States Concrete Pipe</u>, 369 Sos.2d 451 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), <u>appeal after remand</u>, 437 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 1983). The State requests this Court examine the complete merits of the cause.

The facts are clear that the defendant owned the house but rented it to the Betancur family to live in. Although the defendant had a key, as do many landlords, he did not retain any possessory interest such as a right to a particular room or a right to enter whenever he chose. Mrs. Betancur testified the defendant went to the house only to collect the rent or to check on damage. Therefore, the defendant owned the house but he no longer had a possessory interest. The distinction is not just a technicality of property law but a significant point demonstrating that the defendant had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the The case law highlights the significance of the house. landlord-tenant relationship.

The case closest on point is <u>State v. Smith</u>, 656 S.W. 2d 882 (Tenn.Ct.App. 1983) where in this issue of the landlord's privacy expectation was raised. The court stated:

> "The general rule is that a tentant, not the landlord, has the expectation of privacy in leased premises, unless the lessor has specifically reserved any rights of possession for himself, W. LaFave, Search & Seizure §11.3 (a) (1978); Chapman v. United States, 365 U.S. 610, 616-17, 81 S.Ct. 776, 779-80, 5 L.Ed.2d 828 (1961). Thus, during the rental period the lessee privacy is assumed to have the interests in the premises, unless he abandons the property. <u>People v.</u> <u>Morrison</u>, 196 Colo. 319, 583 P.2d 924, 926 (1978); State v. Chiles, 226 595 P.2d 1130, Kans. 140, 1136 The test for abandonment is (1979). whether the lessee had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the property as of the date of the search. Id., see also United States v. Wilson, 472 F.2d 901, 902-3 (9th Cir. 1972), cert. denied, 414 U.S. 868, 94 S.Ct. 176, 38 L.Ed.2d 116 (1973)."

> > State v. Smith, Id. at 887.

In Florida there are no cases not arising from <u>Suco</u>, dealing specifically with a landlord's expectation of privacy in leased premises. There are cases which define the limited rights of a landlord in analogous situations and which demonstrate that a landlord does not have an expectation of privacy in leased premises. In <u>Sheff v. State</u>, 329 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1976), the owner of a motel gave the police consent for them to enter a guest's room. The Supreme Court held the

motel owner had no authority to give that consent. <u>Also, see</u> <u>Sheff v. State</u>, 301 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974). In <u>Blanco</u> <u>v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 404 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), a landlord gave the police permission to enter a leased apartment. The court stated therein:

> "The State argues that under the terms of the agreement the landlord had the <u>right</u> to enter. We agree, but that right was for reasonable access for inspection purposes and in order to spray for infestations. Inviting the police to enter and search the apartment is another matter altogether."

Blanco v. State, Id. at 405.

The case law is therefore clear that the landlord-tenant relationship is significant and has an impact on constitutional rights even in the criminal area. The case law shows a landlord has no authority to allow others to enter a tenant's property. When a landlord leases a house he loses his right to have free access to that house and his right to invite in anyone he chooses. Conversely, he also loses his right to exclude anyone he chooses from that house.

Florida statutory law is in accord. §83.53, Florida Statutes, holds that the tenant shall not unreasonably withhold consent from the landlord to enter the dwelling unit from time to time to inspect the premises or make necessary repairs. Implicit in the statute is the right of the tenant

to withhold consent from the landlord to enter. Subsection (2) specifies under what specific conditions the landlord may enter the premises at any time. The times during which a landlord has free access to leased premises is strictly circumscribed by the statute. The point is that both the case law and the statutory law take away from a landlord the right of free access to leased premises. That right is with the tenant, not the landlord. <u>See Chapman v. United States</u>, <u>supra; United States v. Haynie</u>, 637 F.2d 227 (4th Cir. 1980); <u>McCreary v. Sigler</u>, 406 F.2d 1264 (8th Cir. 1969); <u>also see</u> United States v. Salvucci, 448 U.S. 83, 100 S.Ct. 2547, 65 L.Ed. 619 (1980).

The distinction between one who owns and one who possesses has been applied to more than just real property. In <u>State v. Cribbs</u>, 406 So.2d 1295 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), Cribbs gave up possession of the car he owned to one named Baisden. A shotgun was found in the car by the police. The trial court suppressed the shotgun. In reversing, the appellate court stated:

> "Once appellee allowed Baisden to possess his car exclusively, he lost his expectation of privacy, and therefore his standing to challenge the search of the automobile on the basis of lack of probable cause to arrest or search Baisden."

The cases of State v. Leavitt, 427 So.2d 211 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); State v. Barrowclough, 416 So.2d 47 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) and Coster v. State, 392 So.2d 16 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) have no application to the case sub judice. Coster states that ownership of a house by itself does not necessarily establish an expectation of privacy therein. Barrowclough and Leavitt both disagree but for a significant reason. Both of the latter cases state that an expectation of privacy is proven where someone owns and occupies the premises. In these cases there were indications that the defendants not only owned the premises but occupied them as well. In the case sub judice, unlike Coster, Barrowclough or Leavitt, there was evidence not just that the landlord did not occupy the premises but that he had affirmatively given the right of occupancy to the Betancur family by renting them the house. The defendant therefore gave up his possessory interests and any expectation of privacy.

Lastly, it is significant to note that leasing the house did not necessarily mean the defendant had to give up an expectation of privacy. If the defendant had retained some possessory rights in the house by the terms of his agreement with the Betancurs then perhaps he could prove an expectation of privacy. The facts negate this possibility. Mrs. Betancur testified that the defendant came to the house only to collect the rent and to inspect for damages. Although the State intends to link the defendant to the contents of the

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