OA 12.4.87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 70,313

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

~2

vs.

CARLOS FRANCO SUCO,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

EDWARD R. SHOHAT, ESQUIRE IRA N. LOEWY, ESQUIRE

BIERMAN, SHOHAT & LOEWY, P.A. 200 S.E. First Street, #500 Miami, Florida 33131 (305)358-7477

COUNSEL FOR CARLOS FRANCO SUCO

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the case at bar, the trial court found that SUCO had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the premises, based upon the totality of the evidence presented. This ruling comes to the reviewing court clothed with a presumption of correctness, and in testing the accuracy of these conclusions, the appellate court must interpret the evidence and all reasonable deductions and inferences which may be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the trial judge's conclusions. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>State v. Nova</u>, 361 So.2d 411, 412 (Fla. 1978). In this case, the evidence fully supports the trial court's findings.

The evidence before the trial court in this case showed that Defendant SUCO was the owner of the house which was search-Additionally, the testimony clearly established that he was ed. intimately involved in the supervision and maintenance of this property, a single-family residence, and that he personally would come to the house to collect rent and to perform maintenance and repairs. He had a key to the front door of the house, a right of entry and the consent of the individuals who resided there to enter the house. On the night of the warrantless search of the house, SUCO had used his key to enter the house for purposes legitimately related to his ownership of the house and was physically on the premises at the time the police entered, detained him and searched the house. Under these facts, Defendant submits that this Court is required to uphold the trial court's determination that SUCO had a legitimate expectation of privacy in the premises and that because the police had not obtained a valid consent from Mrs. Betancur, the only individual whose rights in the premises were equal to or superior to those of SUCO, their warrantless search of the premises was illegal, requiring that the evidence which the police sought to utilize against SUCO be suppressed.

ARGUMENT

THE DEFENDANT'S FOURTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS WERE INVADED BY THE UNREASONABLE SEARCH OF THE HOUSE WHICH WAS OWNED BY HIM BUT LEASED TO THE CODEFENDANTS, WHERE HE RETAINED AND EXERCISED A POSSESSORY INTEREST IN THE PREMISES AND WAS PRESENT ON THE PREMISES AT THE TIME OF THE SEARCH AND DID NOT CONSENT TO THE SEARCH.

As the courts of this state have now recognized, the issue of "standing" is not to be decided separate and apart from the substantive Fourth Amendment issues raised in a case. Rather, the determination of whether the proponent of a motion to suppress is entitled to contest the legality of a search and seizure must take into consideration the substantive Fourth Amendment issues, as well as the concept of standing. <u>Dean v.</u> <u>State</u>, 478 So.2d 38, 40-41 (Fla. 1985); <u>Sparkman v. State</u>, 482 So.2d 421, 422 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); Coster v. State, 392 So.2d 16, 17 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); State v. Showcase Products, Inc., 501 So.2d 11 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Pursuant to Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 99 S.Ct. 421 (1978), the inquiry is simply whether the defendant's rights were violated by the allegedly illegal search Dean v. State, supra at 40; United States v. and seizure. <u>Salvucci</u>, 448 U.S. 83, 87 n.4, 100 S.Ct. 2547, 2551 n.4 (1980).

The trial court in the case at bar correctly recognized this principle when it rejected the state's assertion, made at the outset of the hearing, that Defendant SUCO, the owner of the house that was searched, lacked "standing" to move to suppress the evidence seized. SUCO further submits that the trial judge's ultimate determination, that SUCO's Fourth Amendment rights were

violated by the warrantless and nonconsensual $\frac{6}{}$ search of the house, is amply supported by the evidence in this case and should be affirmed.

A trial court ruling granting a motion to suppress comes to a reviewing court with the same presumption of correctness that attaches to jury verdicts and final judgments, e.q., <u>DeConingh v. State</u>, 433 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1983). Thus, in testing the accuracy of the trial court's conclusions, this Court must interpret the evidence and all reasonable deductions and inferences which may be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to sustaining the trial judge's ruling, e.g., State v. Nova, 361 So.2d 411 (Fla. 1978); McNamara v. State, 357 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1978); Johnson v. State, 438 So.2d 774 (Fla. 1983). Applying these principles to the facts of the case at bar, it is clear that this Court must affirm the trial court's conclusion that SUCO's rights were violated; a conclusion which is well-supported by the following factors:

First, it is undisputed by the state that SUCO owned the house which was the subject of the search in this case. Such a property interest should not lightly be disregarded. As pointed out by this Court in <u>Norman v. State</u>, 379 So.2d 643, 647 (Fla. 1980), quoting extensively from <u>Rakas v. Illinois</u>, <u>supra</u>:

^{6/} The state has not even challenged Judge Morphonios' finding that Isabel Betancur did not give a valid, voluntary third-party consent to the search of the house (SR. 64). See United States v. Matlock, 415 U.S. 164, 94 S.Ct. 988 (1974); Padron v. State, 328 So.2d 216 (Fla. 11th DCA 1976), cert. denied, 339 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 1976).

In a recent decision, Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 99 S.Ct. 421, 58 L.Ed.2d 387 (1978), the Supreme Court noted that "property rights reflect society's explicit recognition of a person's authority to act as he wishes in certain areas, and therefore would be considered in determining whether an individual's expectations of privacy are reasonable." 439 U.S. at 153, 99 S.Ct. at 435 (Powell, Indeed, the majority J., concurring). held that "one who owns or lawfully possesses or controls property will in all likelihood have a legitimate expectation of privacy by virtue of this right to exclude." 439 U.S. at 144 n.12, 99 S.Ct. at 431 n.12.

Indeed, Florida courts have long recognized that, "to be afforded protection against an unreasonable search of premises and a seizure of property thereon, one must claim and prove himself to be the owner, occupant, or lessee of the premises searched." <u>Mixon v. State</u>, 54 So.2d 190 (Fla. 1951).

Florida is not the only jurisdiction to recognize the correlation between property rights and a legitimate expectation of privacy. In <u>United States v. Forsythe</u>, 560 F.2d 1127 (3d Cir. 1977), the court held that the "silent partner" in a bail bond agency had standing to move to suppress evidence seized during the search of the agency's premises.

Closer on point is <u>Rosencranz v. United States</u>, 356 F.2d 310 (1st Cir. 1966), in which the court held that the absentee holder of legal title could invoke the protection of the Fourth Amendment. The court reasoned as follows:

> That such an absentee holder of legal title as appellant DiPietro should have standing to invoke the Fourth Amendment does not offend us as creating

constitutional rights by "subtle distincdeveloped in the tions law of real property", as government counsel argues. As this case demonstrates, the purchase and ownership of real property with very little more can be significant links involving the owner in the chain of an alleged conspiracy. It does not seem unfair to allow the fact of ownership, which is used by the government against a defendant, to be used by that defendant to invoke constitutional rights.

<u>Id</u>. 356 F.2d at 313. The reasoning of <u>Rosencranz</u> seems especially apropos here, where the state's theory of prosecution is that SUCO rented the living quarters of the house to the Betancurs, but retained control over the attic, where he stored his $cocaine.^{1/2}$ Indeed, under the state's theory of prosecution SUCO was the only individual who legitimately had an expectation of privacy in the attic.

Second, SUCO was no mere absentee landlord. Thus, it is significant that the state concedes,

[t]hat leasing the house did not necessarily mean the defendant had to give up an expectation of privacy. If the defendant had retained some possessory rights in the house by the terms of his agreement with the Betancurs then perhaps he could prove an expectation of privacy.

(State's brief at 19). The state then proceeds to take issue with the trial court's factual determination that SUCO did retain and exercise certain possessory rights in the leased premises. In so doing, the state ignores the previously cited fundamental

 $[\]frac{7}{7}$ Whether the state could prove its theory of prosecution was the subject of a sworn motion to dismiss, which was denied by the court prior to the hearing on the motion to suppress (R. 49-53, T. 7-10).

principle of law that the trial court's ruling is presumptively correct and a reviewing court should interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences and deductions drawn from the evidence in a manner most favorable to sustaining the trial court's ruling. Johnson v. State, supra; State v. Nova, supra.

Here, the testimony at the hearing clearly established that SUCO was involved intimately in the supervision and maintenance of his property which was, after all, a single family residence, not a multi-unit apartment house. SUCO personally would come to the house to collect the rent and to perform maintenance and repairs (T. 620, 673). SUCO also had a key to the front door of the house and he clearly had the consent of the Indeed, SUCO's right of access Betancurs to use it. is emphasized by the particular facts of this case, for here the testimony shows that SUCO used his key and let himself into the house when Mrs. Betancur, who was in the laundry room when he arrived, did not hear him knock (T. 469, 622). Once inside the house, SUCO, who had come for purposes legitimately related to his ownership of the house, certainly made himself at home by sitting down on the family room couch to watch television, while waiting for Mrs. Betancur to finish her work in the laundry room. Finally, at no time did Mrs. Betancur ever object to SUCO's entry or continued presence in the house. To the contrary, the testimony made it clear that SUCO had what amounted to an open invitation to enter and remain in the premises.

Third, SUCO personally was on the premises, with the consent of the lessees, at the time the search took place. Significantly, prior to coercing an invalid consent from Mrs. Betancur, the police already had handcuffed and detained SUCO, had identified him as the owner of the house and had sought his consent for a search (T. 473-474, 477, 493, 496-498). It was only after SUCO had refused to cooperate that Officer Fernandez sought Mrs. Betancur's signature for his consent form (T. 473-474, 493, 528-529, 545-546).

Under these circumstances, the state's reliance upon general landlord and tenant law to support its contention that SUCO did not have an expectation of privacy in property merely because he leased it to the Betancurs is misplaced. Such arcane distinctions developed in property and tort law ought not to control. Rakas v. Illinois, supra at 143, 99 S.Ct. at 430. A case whose facts provide strong guidance and support for SUCO's position in this case is the decision of the Supreme Court in Jones v. United States, 362 U.S. 257, 80 S.Ct. 725 (1960). Though the "automatic standing" rule established in Jones later was repudiated by the court in United States v. Salvucci, supra, the remainder of the Jones decision remains good law. The controlling facts of Jones, as well as why those facts established a reasonable expectation of privacy by Jones, were explained by the court in Rakas v. Illinois, supra at 149, 99 S.Ct. at 433:

Jones v. United States, 362 U.S. 257, 80 S.Ct. 725, 4 L.Ed.2d 697 (1960) and Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967), involved significantly different factual circumstances. Jones not only had permission to use the apartment of his but also had a key to the friend, apartment with which he admitted himself on the day of the search and kept possessions in the apartment. Except with respect to his friend, Jones had complete dominion and control over the apartment and could exlude others from it. Likewise in Katz, the defendant occupied the telephone booth, shut the door behind him to exclude all others and paid the toll, which "entitled [him] to assume that the words he utter[ed] into the mouthpiece [would] not be broadcast to the world." <u>Id</u>. at 352, 88 S.Ct. at 512. Katz and Jones could legitimately expect privacy in the areas which were the subject of the search and seizure each sought to contest. No such showing made by these petitioners with was respect to those portions of the automobile which were searched and from which incriminating evidence was seized.

The expectation of privacy which SUCO had in the premises searched in this case was, if anything, greater and more legitimate than that possessed by Cecil Jones. Here, as in <u>Jones</u>, the fact that another individual(s) (in this case the Betancurs, in <u>Jones</u>, a man named Evans who permitted Jones to use the apartment) had a greater right to the premises does not, <u>ipso facto</u>, mean that SUCO did not have any legitimate expectation of privacy in the premises, particularly in light of the fact that he was legitimately on the premises at the time of the search and was handcuffed and detained by the police even before any contraband

was found. <u>Cf.</u>, <u>State v. Scott</u>, 481 So.2d 40 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); <u>State v. Beja</u>, 451 So.2d 882 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

In this case, SUCO, as the owner of the house, who was actively involved in the care and maintenance of the house and who legitimately was on the premises at the time of the search, had rights to the premises which were superior to everyone else Under these circumin the world except for the Betancurs. stances, the most that can be said for the state's argument is that its assertion that SUCO had no authority, vis-a-vis the Betancurs, to give the police permission to search the house, might be correct, e.q., Blanco v. State, 438 So.2d 404 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), but that the conclusion it seeks to draw from this is not. For the converse is not, as the state suggests, that SUCO had no interest in the premises, but is merely that Mrs. Betancur, as the tenant and occupant of the house, could have given the police valid consent to search. Inasmuch as the trial court made a specific finding of fact that Mrs. Betancur did not voluntarily consent to the search, a finding which has not been and cannot be disputed by the state, this can offer no solace to the state in this case.

The Tennessee case of <u>State v. Smith</u>, 656 S.W.2d 882 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1983), which the state terms "closest on point," is far from it. In <u>Smith</u>, the defendant, a fire captain, rented a house to one Terry Glover, another fireman in his engine company. Together, they concocted a scheme to set fire to the house in order to collect the insurance proceeds. As part of the

scheme, Smith planned to delay responding to the fire and to report it as being nonsuspicious in origin. However, three days after the fire, a suspicious arson inspector visited the scene and, based upon his observations, obtained a search warrant for the premises. In holding that Smith had no standing to challenge the arson inspector's initial visit to the premises, based upon his "bare title alone", the Tennessee court took pains to observe that the proof, "fails to show that Smith had done anything to assert a privacy interest in the house. There was, for example, no evidence that Smith had ever lived there, stored property there, or even frequented the house." These facts are considerably different from those of this case, in which SUCO was shown to have frequented the premises and was present at the time the search was conducted.

The states' reliance upon the decision in <u>State v. Cribbs</u>, 406 So.2d 1295 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), is equally misplaced. The distinction between that case and the one at bar is immediately apparent from the district court's statement of the issue involved in that case:

> This case arises out of a three-count robbery information filed against Appellee and two others in Hillsborough County. The issue to be decided is whether a warrantless search of an **automobile** which results in the seizure of a shotgun is justified when a party, who is not the owner of the vehicle but apparently in possession of it, has given consent to that search. We hold that the search in this case was legally conducted and reverse the trial court's order. (Emphasis supplied).

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